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Figure 21. William Rust’s blacksmith shop (far left) and other buildings in County Line, ca. 1895. 

(Source: George Emanuels, California’s Contra Costa County: An Illustrated History: 125). 
 
Little changed until 1890, when two Berkeley realtors, George Schmidt and Anson Blake, began 
dividing large farms into smaller farms and residential lots for resale (Figure 22). In 1898, the men 
opened Schmidt Village, offering five acre tracts and home sites. This development attracted new 
residents, who set up commercial businesses on San Pablo Avenue.5 The residents traveled to 
Berkeley and Richmond on the East Shore and Suburban Railway electric line, which was established 
in 1904.6 Around the same time, quarrying became the primary industry near Rust, an endeavor 
operated by the Bates and Borland Quarry and Tallentyne Hutchinson Quarry. Nevertheless, much 
of the area still contained dairies and chicken farms. 
 

 
Figure 22. El Cerrito residences and small farms, ca. 1900. 

(Source: El Cerrito Historical Society, Images of America: El Cerrito: 23). 
                                                      
5 George Emanuels, California’s Contra Costa County: An Illustrated History (Fresno, CA: Panorama Books, 1986) 
126.  
6 Edward Staniford, El Cerrito: Historical Evolution: 32. 
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On August 23, 1917, the unincorporated areas of Rust and adjacent Stege Junction voted on 
incorporation, in order to raise tax money for services such as fire and police protection and street 
paving.7 The resulting city was named El Cerrito, and had an estimated population of 1,400 that year. 
During Prohibition in the 1920s, the saloons and other businesses on San Pablo Avenue were 
gradually replaced by auto-related businesses, including garages, service stations, auto courts, and 
motels. Houses were developed on both sides of San Pablo Avenue for several blocks and on the 
hillside within proximity of the railroad depots.8 Residents were primarily in the middle-lower income 
brackets. The town reached a population of 3,852 in 1930. Legalized gambling made El Cerrito a 
recreational destination in the 1930s. At that time, the town contained casinos and a greyhound dog 
racing track for the El Cerrito Kennel Club.9 
 
El Cerrito experienced a rise in property development beginning in 1938, as the nation emerged from 
the Great Depression. Piecemeal development of the hillside tracts below Arlington Boulevard sped 
up, and the town’s population reached 7,000 in 1940. However, during World War II, the population 
jumped to nearly 17,000 as people flooded into the Bay Area to work in the defense industry. 
Approximately half of El Cerrito’s population at that time lived in temporary war housing or 
government trailer parks, and many worked in the Richmond shipyards. During the post-war 
building boom, the population jumped to 25,000. Residents and newcomers built single-family 
homes on attractive hillside sites overlooking the San Francisco Bay and the Golden Gate, while 
developers built apartment buildings and duplexes in the flat area. In 1946, the slogan “The City of 
Homes” was adopted. About the same time, a new city council was elected. One of their first major 
acts was to embark on a vigorous enforcement campaign against all gambling activity. The building 
boom continued through the 1950s and into the 1960s, when residential tracts filled out the hillside 
area and construction slowed down. By 1976, the city comprised 2,300 acres or 3.7 miles, of which 
71 percent was developed, 23 percent was right of way for public utilities, and the remaining 7 
percent was vacant. BART was constructed through El Cerrito in the 1960s, as well, which helped 
strengthen the city’s role as a bedroom community to Berkeley, Oakland, and San Francisco.10 In 
2000, the population was 23,171 people. 
 
 
801 BATES AVENUE  

The site of 801 Bates Avenue was owned and developed by Edward Clifford Gill, the second son of 
Edward G. Gill, a horticulturalist and nursery businessman known throughout the Bay Area for the 
exotic plants and antique roses that he raised. 11  Edward G. and Mary Gill were born in Ireland in 
about 1840 and 1842, respectively, but came to California before their first child was born in 1869. 
The Gills had four children: John (born in January 1869), Edward C. (born in February 1871), Sarah 
Isabella (born in November 1877) and Mary Elizabeth (born in May 1880).12 They lived in Oakland 
in 1880.13   

                                                      
7 El Cerrito Historical Society, “El Cerrito History,” Website accessed on 5 August 2010 from: http://www.el-
cerrito.org/community/history.html 
8 Edward Staniford, El Cerrito: Historical Evolution: 32. 
9 Ibid: 127.  
10 Ibid: 87. 
11 Mervin Belfils, “The Community’s Past- 3,” The El Cerrito Historical Society. Website accessed on 5 August 
2010 from: http://elcerritowire.com/history/pages/communityspast3.htm. 
12 Note: Another Gill family resided in El Cerrito at the turn of the twentieth century, but do not appear to be 
related to the Edward E. Gill family. Etta Gill McHenry and Charles C. Gill owned a tract of land at San Pablo 
Avenue and Cutting Boulevard. Gill Avenue was named after them and a California & Nevada railroad station 
nearby was called Gills Station. (Source: Tom Panas of the El Cerrito Historical Society and Gill’s Addition to 
Pullman, Contra Costa County (1911) map).  
13 1880 U.S. Census. Website accessed on 9 August 2010 from: Ancestry.com. 
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In 1889, Gill bought a 104-acre nursery at Marin and San Pablo Avenues in Albany, which was 
originally partitioned three years earlier as the White and Driver Tract. His family moved to a large 
Victorian home on the property (address on San Pablo Avenue), where they were listed in the 1900 
U.S. Census (Figure 23). Edward G. Gill died in 1909 at his home. His eldest son, John, constructed 
a Craftsman style house on the nursery property around 1910 as his residence, while continuing to 
farm the land.14 The Gill children sold the nursery to the University of California in January 1928, 
and John Gill died later that year. Over the course of the next 65 years, the land was subdivided and 
some plots sold. Currently, there are 14 remaining acres of the Gill Tract, 9.7 of which are arable 
land.15  
 

 
Figure 23. The Edward G. Gill home in Albany, ca. 1900. Edward Gill appears to the left  

of the horses, John Gill at the center, and Isabelle Gill on the steps. 
(Source: Karen Sorensen and the Albany Historical Society, Images of America: Albany (Charleston, SC: 

Arcadia Publishing) 15). 
 

Second son Edward Clifford Gill was also listed as a horticulturist in the U.S. Census records 
between 1910 and 1930, though he lived in the Hotel Royal, a residential hotel on San Pablo Avenue, 
in 1920 and 1930. He was apparently also a professor and doctor.16 According to local historian 
Mervin Belfils, Edward C. Gill purchased 801 Bates Avenue in the Rancho San Pablo Tract of the El 
Cerrito hills around 1927.17 When the property was purchased, it was a barren, rocky lot without any 
trees. Gill started landscaping the original six acres, planting fruit trees and imported shrubs. The rear 
of the property contained a pond stocked with large trout. According to the newspaper article,  
 

Its trees, shrubs, and flowers were of the best and rarest varieties, as they were 
brought from the famous Gill Nurseries, which Dr. Gill’s parents had founded in 

                                                      
14 LSA, Report, Experiment Station Research and History- Gill Tract, University of California, Albany, CA (University of 
California, Berkeley, October 2009) 7. Website accessed on 11 August 2010 from: 
http://www.cp.berkeley.edu/CP/PEP/History/Reports_and_Studies/Gill_Tract_Experiment_Station_Histor
y.pdf 
15 “Frequently Asked Questions,” The Gill Tract. Website accessed on 5 August 2010 from: 
http://gilltract.org/Information.html 
16 Barclay, “El Cerrito ‘Sanctuary’ is Rich in History,” The San Francisco Chronicle (17 May 1953): clipping- page 
unknown. 
17 Mervin Belfils, “The Community’s Past- 3,” The El Cerrito Historical Society. Website accessed on 5 August 
2010 from: http://elcerritowire.com/history/pages/communityspast3.htm. 
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West Berkeley in 1889. […] Full-size mimosas, or acacia trees as they are more 
commonly called, were planted around the boundaries of the property and it was 
given the name of “Las Mimosas” […]. Since Dr. Gill’s hobby was reassembling 
statuary from Woodward’s Gardens, and collecting other pieces that took his fancy, 
the garden used to be a setting for lovely marble statues and a marble fountain 
moved in sections from Woodward’s Gardens. Some of the pieces came from the 
Leland Stanford collection and had never been uncrated before being bought by Dr. 
Gill.18 (Figure 24).  
 

 
Figure 24. A marble statue, one of Dr. Gill’s acquisitions, 

 in the cylindrical solarium at Las Mimosas, n.d. 
(Source: Barclay, “El Cerrito ‘Sanctuary’ is Rich in History,”  

The San Francisco Chronicle, 17 May 1953). 
 

Soon after Edward C. Gill purchased and began to landscape the property at 801 Bates Avenue, the 
Gill family sold the nursery to the University of California. Dr. Gill did not build the house on his 
estate until 1932. He planned his home to be located at the top of a knoll overlooking San Francisco 
and the Golden Gate. The original architect is unknown and no Sanborn Fire Insurance maps exist 
for the area to map development over time. The house was built on solid rock that had been leveled 
off.19 Though the house was imposing and designed in a turreted Spanish Eclectic style, it contained 
only two bedrooms and was regarded as a studious retreat rather than a place to entertain guests 
(Figure 25). As an antique collector, Dr. Gill furnished his home with rare objects, such as an 
Ardebil rug, made circa 1800 and valued at $25,000; a solid marble table in the entry hall; and 
tapestried chairs from Ralston Mansion, across the Bay in Belmont.20 The crystal chandeliers were 
reportedly purchased from the Winchester family of Winchester Rifle and Winchester Mystery House 
fame. Dr. Gill and his wife, Ann, lived in the house for seventeen years.21 According to the California 
Death Index, Dr. Gill died in October 1949 in Alameda.22 His widow subsequently put his art 
collection on sale, including the statues of Swiss halberdiers, which guarded the two entrances to Las 

                                                      
18 Ibid. 
19 Ibid. 
20 Barclay, “El Cerrito ‘Sanctuary’ is Rich in History,” The San Francisco Chronicle (17 May 1953): clipping- page 
unknown. 
21 Ibid. 
22 California Death Index, 1940-1997. Website accessed on 16 August 2010 from: www.ancestry.com. 




